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Directors’ report 

Your directors present their report on the consolidated entity (referred to herein as the ‘Group’) 
consisting of Axiom Mining Limited (‘the Company’ or ‘Axiom’) and its controlled entities for the 
financial year ended 30 September 2015. 

Directors 

The following persons were Directors of the Company during the year and to the date of this report: 

Stephen Ray Williams  

(LLB, Solicitor of the Supreme Court of NSW and High Court of Australia, and Member of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors)  

Chairman and Non-Executive Director (age 62) 

Stephen is a corporate lawyer by profession and is an experienced director and chairman of public 
companies from Initial Public Offering through to maturity.  

Since his appointment, Stephen has overseen the implementation of best practice in corporate 
governance and has also ensured that the expertise of the Board has been channelled to the 
appropriate areas of the business. He has played an integral role overseeing recent business 
development in Solomon Islands. 

Other current directorships: 

 Australian Careers Network Limited – Chairman and Non-Executive Director 

 Millennium Services Group Limited – Non-Executive Director 

Former directorships: 

 Prime Ag Australia Limited – Non-Executive Director 

 Coffey International Limited – Non-Executive Director and Chairman 

Ryan Richard Mount 

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer (age 36) 

Ryan joined the Axiom Mining Board as a Director in April 2009. Following his appointment, he led 
the crucial restructure of the Company—an exercise that saw Axiom gain full control of the 
Company’s assets, define a clear strategic direction appoint a new Board and management team and 
a listing on the Australian Securities Exchange (‘ASX’) by December 2009.  

In mid-2010, Ryan accepted the Board’s offer of the CEO position. Since his appointment, he has 
been relentless in driving and refining Axiom’s operations, and as a result, key components of the 
business plan have been achieved.  

Ryan led the pursuit of the world-class Isabel nickel deposit in Solomon Islands, which included 
securing title to the deposit in Axiom’s favour after a three-year High Court battle.   

He has an extensive background in Australian and international financial markets, as well as 
corporate advisory. Ryan is also a member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. 

Other directorships: 

 Nil   
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Jeremy Robin Gray 

(Honours degree in Finance from Melbourne University) 

Non-Executive Director (age 45)  

Appointed to the Board on 12 July 2015 

Jeremy is an investment professional with 20 years’ experience in global capital markets as a Mining 
Equity Analyst, Mining Portfolio Manager and Investment Banker. 

Jeremy’s career in mining investment includes appointments as the Global Head of Basic Materials 
Equity Research at Standard Chartered Bank Plc, Head of Metals and Mining Research at Morgan 
Stanley Equity in London, and the Head of Mining Equity Research at Credit Suisse in London. 

Other directorships: 

 Chancery Asset Management Pte Ltd 

Directors’ shareholdings  

The following table sets out each director’s relevant interest in shares and rights or options in shares 
of the Company or a related body corporate as at the date of this report: 

Directors Fully paid ordinary shares 

Number 

Share rights 

Number 

Stephen Ray Williams 166,666 - 

Ryan Richard Mount 44,111 - 

Jeremy Robin Gray 47,750 150,000 

Except as disclosed in Note 20 to the financial statements, at no time during the year was the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors of the 
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company 
or any other body corporate. 

Directors’ interests in contracts 

Except as disclosed in Note 20 to the financial statements, no contracts of significance to which the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which Directors of the Company had a material 
interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year. 

Directors’ meetings 

During the year the Company held 18 meetings of Directors of which four were by attendance or 
teleconference and 14 were by circulating resolution. The attendances of Directors at meetings of 
the Board of Directors were: 

  Directors’ meetings Audit meetings 

Directors A B A B 

Stephen Ray Williams 16 16 2 2 

Ryan Richard Mount 16 16 2 2 

Jeremy Robin Gray 1 1 - - 

Notes: 

A – Number of meetings attended. 

B – Number of meetings held during the time the Director held 

office during the year.  

   

The composition of the Board is not suitable for the formation of separate subcommittees and these 
responsibilities are undertaken by the whole Board. 
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Company Secretary 

Paul Frederiks 

(Bachelor of Business from QUT, and is also a Fellow of CPA Australia, the Governance Institute of 
Australia and the Australian Institute of Company Directors). 

On 21 August 2015, the Company appointed Paul Frederiks as Company Secretary in Australia to act 
as Local Agent. Paul has more than 30 years’ experience as a finance and corporate governance 
executive in the Australian resources sector, with an extensive knowledge base in listed public 
company reporting and compliance. 

He previously held Company Secretary positions for Auzex Resources Limited, Billabong International 
Limited and China Steel Australia Limited and was also previously the Company Secretary and Chief 
Financial Officer at Geodynamics Limited and Ross Mining N.L. 

As the Company is incorporated in Hong Kong, it is a requirement under the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance to have a resident Company Secretary. Boacoh Secretarial Limited of Hong Kong acts as 
Company Secretary for the Company. Boacoh Secretarial Limited is a Company owned by the 
partners of Boase Cohen & Collins Solicitors. 

Accountant and Local Agent 

As Axiom is registered in Australia, it is required to appoint a Local Agent for receipt of notices from 
both the Australia Securities Exchange Limited and the Australian Securities and Investment 
Commission. Mr Paul Frederiks is the Local Agent and Company Secretary. 

Principal activities 

The principal activities of the Company and the Group during the year were mineral exploration and 
assessment of potential mining acquisition opportunities in Australia, Solomon Islands and Vietnam.  

Axiom’s key focus was the advanced exploration program and mine development on the Isabel Nickel 
Project. 

Operating and Financial Review 

Results of operations 

The consolidated loss from ordinary activities of the Company and its controlled entities for the year 
ended 30 September 2015 after income tax was $12,460,000 (2014: $15,880,000).  

Review of operations 

Since Axiom’s resounding win in the Solomon Islands High Court trial over the Isabel nickel deposit 
on 24 September 2014, the Company has undertaken an intensive exploration program to achieve its 
first Maiden JORC Resource Estimate. 

In December 2014, Axiom announced a $5 million funding agreement and strategic partnership with 
mining services contractor Anitua. In March 2015, Axiom was granted a second Prospecting Licence 
for the Isabel Nickel Project over the south San Jorge tenement. 

Axiom completed orientation drilling on the Isabel Nickel Project in May 2015 and commenced the 
first phase of resource definition drilling in June 2015. The Company announced its Maiden JORC 
Resource Estimate on 30 September 2015, and has plans to upgrade the resource before the end of 
2015. 
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Review of Axiom’s North Queensland, Vietnam and West Guadalcanal (in Solomon Islands) 
tenements continued as the Company focused on the Isabel Nickel Project. 

Share capital 

During the year the Company issued 45,374,975 (2014: 954,485,305, consolidated as 79,540,442) 
ordinary shares via placements, on exercise of performance rights, conversion of convertible shares, 
exercise of options and as payment for services. 

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year are set out in Note 16(a) 
to the consolidated financial statements. 

Changes in the state of affairs 

No significant changes to the state of affairs of the Group have occurred during the financial year. 

Dividends 

The Board of Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year (2014: nil). 

Events subsequent to period end 

Subsequent to the year end, on 4 November 2015 the Company announced that it had entered into 
a convertible note facility agreement for up to $15 million to fund the development of the Isabel 
Nickel Project through a strategic partnership with experienced resource venture capitalist and 
project incubator InCor Holdings Plc (‘InCoR’). 

As part of the agreement, Axiom issued one secured convertible note with a face value of 
$5,000,000, convertible to a maximum issue of 13,513,514 fully paid ordinary shares based on a 
conversion price of $0.37 per share. 

The note is for the period of 24 months with interest rate of 6% per annum payable in advance for 
the first 12 months and thereafter quarterly in advance. Interest obligations have been satisfied by 
the issuing shares at a fixed price of $0.37. The facility is secured through the first ranking charge 
over Axiom’s assets in Australia and Hong Kong. 

At the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 15 October 2015, the shareholders approved the issue 
of the 150,000 Performance Rights to the newly-appointed director, Mr Jeremy Gray. 

Apart from the matters mentioned above, no other matters or circumstances have arisen since 30 
September 2015 that significantly affected or could significantly affect the operations of the 
Consolidated Group in future years. 

Proceedings on behalf of Company 

Axiom had a resounding High Court victory against SMM Solomon Limited (‘Sumitomo’) in 
September 2014 in relation to the validity of the Prospecting Licence and 50-year registered lease 
over the land covering the Isabel Nickel Project. 

On 27 October 2014, Sumitomo filed a notice of appeal in response to the High Court trial 
judgement, which was heard between 26 May 2015 and 5 June 2015 in the Court of Appeal of 
Solomon Islands.  

The Court of Appeal has reserved judgement and no ruling has been handed down at the date of this 
report. 

Apart from the matters discussed, no person has applied for leave of court to bring proceedings on 
behalf of the Company or intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party for the 
purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or any part of such proceedings. 
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Remuneration report 

The Remuneration Report sets out information relating to the remuneration of the Company’s 
non-executive Directors and key management personnel. Key management personnel include the 
CEO as Executive Director, the Chief Financial Officer (‘CFO’), Corporate Affairs Manager, Corporate 
Development & Strategy Manager and Executive General Manager – Mining Operations. 

a) Details of specified Directors and specified executives 

i. Specified Directors   

 Mr Stephen Ray Williams  Non-Executive Director and Chairman 

 Mr Ryan Richard Mount  Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer 

 Mr Jeremy Robin Gray  Non-Executive Director  

ii. Specified executives   

 Mr Sailesh Solanki  Chief Financial Officer  

 Ms Vivian Lim  Corporate Affairs Manager 

 Mr Andrew Barber  Corporate Development & Strategy Manager  

(appointed 3 March 2015) 

 Mr Juan Jeffrey  Executive General Manager Mining Operations  

(appointed 29 July 2015) 

iii. Former specified executives 

 Mr John Donald Macansh  Exploration Manager (until 18 February 2015) 

 Mr Hans Vulker  Human Resources Manager (until 5 October 2015) 

b) Remuneration of specified Directors and specified executives 

The constitution of the Company provides that non-executive Directors may collectively be paid as 
remuneration for their services, a fixed sum not exceeding the aggregate maximum sum per annum 
as from time to time determined by the Company at a general meeting, which is currently set at 
US$300,000. The chairman’s fees are determined independently of the fees of the non-executive 
Directors based on comparative roles in the market place. 

The Chairman’s fees have been set at $80,000 per annum (2014 – $50,000) and Non-Executive 
Directors are remunerated at $60,000 per annum (2014 – $35,000). Directors may be paid fees or 
other amounts as the Directors determine where a Director performs special duties or otherwise 
perform services outside the scope of the ordinary duties of a Director. A Director may also be 
reimbursed for out of pocket expenses incurred in carrying out their duties as a Director. 

c) Performance rights plan 

Director, Executive and Employee Performance Rights Plan 

The establishment of the Axiom Director and Executive Performance Rights Plan was approved by 
shareholders at the 30 July 2010 Extraordinary General Meeting and refreshed at the Annual General 
Meeting (‘AGM’) held on 22 April 2013. The Director and Executive Performance Rights Plan provide 
appropriate incentives for the Board and management: 

 to align the economic interests of the Board and management with shareholders 

 to keep the Board and management focused on the long term growth of the Company 

 to increase shareholder value by achieving certain milestones. 

Under the plan, participants are granted rights that vest if certain performance conditions are met.  
Participation in the plan is at the Board’s discretion. Certain employees of the Company have been 
granted share rights as set out in their service agreement with the Company. Apart from these, no 
individual has a contractual right to participate in the plan or to receive any guaranteed benefits. 
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Remuneration report (continued) 

c) Performance rights plan (continued) 

When exercisable, each right is convertible into one ordinary share. At the AGM on 22 April 2013, 
shareholders approved the issue of: 

 6,666,661 performance rights to Ryan Richard Mount  

 833,332 performance rights to Stephen Ray Williams.  

Details of the rights as at 30 September 2015 are as follows: 

 Number of 
rights 

granted 

Grant date Expiry date Fair value per 
share at 

approval date
(3)

 

VWAP 
hurdle 

(4)
 

Number 
Vested 

Directors       

Stephen 

Williams 

166,666
(1)

 30/07/11 - - 1.05 - 

 133,333(2) 22/04/13 21/10/15 1.33 0.75 - 

 133,333
(2)

 22/04/13 21/10/15 1.20 1.13 - 

 400,000
(2)

 22/04/13 21/10/15 1.06 1.50 - 

 833,332      

       

Ryan Mount 333,333 22/04/13 31/03/15 1.33 0.75 - 

 666,666 22/04/13 31/03/15 1.20 1.13 - 

 666,666 22/04/13 31/03/15 1.06 1.50 - 

 666,666 22/04/13 31/03/15 0.98 1.88 - 

 666,666 22/04/13 31/03/15 0.89 2.25 - 

 666,666 22/04/13 31/03/15 0.77 3.00 - 

 666,666 22/04/13 31/03/15 0.67 3.75 - 

 1,000,000 22/04/13 31/03/15 0.60 4.50 - 

 666,666 22/04/13 31/03/15 0.54 5.25 - 

 666,666 22/04/13 31/03/15 0.50 6.00 - 

 6,666,661(5)      

 

(1) Lapsed during the year. 

(2) The VWAP hurdles relating to the rights were not met by 21 October 2015 and have lapsed. 

(3) Pre-consolidation value using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. 

(4) Post consolidation. 

(5) Cancelled post year- end as detailed in the 31 March 2015 AGM Notice of Meeting. 

The issue of shares on exercise of the performance rights must be within three years from the 
approval by the shareholders and: 

 were subject to Volume Weighted Average Price (‘VWAP’) hurdles with rights vesting only 
after the 30 day VWAP has exceeded the relevant hurdles; and 

 a further six months must elapse after satisfaction of the VWAP performance condition 
before the performance rights can be exercised.  

A service-based vesting condition also applies. That is, Mr Mount and Mr Williams must remain in 
the service of the Company at the time the performance rights are exercised. Performance rights 
that do not vest will lapse. The performance rights are issued for nil consideration and have a nil 
exercise price. 
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Remuneration report (continued) 

c) Performance rights plan (continued) 

The 6,666,661 rights relating to Mr Mount were cancelled subsequent to the year-end as detailed in 
Resolution 6 of the March 2015 AGM Notice of Meeting.  

The shareholders at the 31 March 2015 AGM approved for 2,400,000 short term performance rights 
and 9,600,000 long term performance rights granted under Axiom Director and Executive 
Performance Right Plan. As at the date of this report, the rights have not been issued. 

 
 Number of 

rights 
Expiry date Fair value per 

share at 
approval date 

VWAP 
hurdle 

Number 
Vested 

      

Ryan Mount      

Short term 2,400,000 -
(1)

 0.165 n/a 2,400,000 

      

Long term 2,400,000 28 February 2017 0.057 34.5 - 

 2,400,000 28 February 2018 0.054 43.5 - 

 2,400,000 28 February 2019 0.052 55.5 - 

 2,400,000 28 February 2020 0.050 69.0 - 

(1) Expires 12 months after the date of issue. 

Short Term Incentives Rights (STI Rights) 

Mr Mount was to be issued 2,400,000 Rights (STI Rights) vesting immediately upon approval by the 
shareholders (approved on 31 March 2015) and execution of a service agreement between the 
Company and Mr Mount (executed 21 May 2015). 

However, the rights can only be exercised by Mr Mount after the Appeal of the Proceedings has been 
completed and a decision handed down. 

Long Term Incentive Rights (LTI Rights) 

Mr Mount was to be issued 9,600,000 Rights (LTI Rights) upon approval by the shareholders 
(approved on 31 March 2015) and execution of a service agreement between the Company and Mr 
Mount (executed 21 May 2015) in tranches where the Company’s Share price exceeds the following 
thresholds during the specified periods (each a Performance Condition): 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Once vested, the LTI Rights will be exercisable six months after the end of the relevant measurement 
period. 

 

 

Number of                
Rights Issued 

in each Tranche 

Period Price 
Threshold 

   

2,400,000 1 March 2016 to 28 February 2017 34.5 cents  

2,400,000 1 March 2017 to 28 February 2018 43.5 cents 

2,400,000 1 March 2018 to 28 February 2019 55.5 cents 

2,400,000 1 March 2019 to 28 February 2020 69.0 cents 



Axiom Mining Limited 
Directors’ Report 

30 September 2015 
 

8 
 

Remuneration report (continued) 

c) Performance rights plan (continued) 

The Company may cancel the Rights in the following circumstances: 

a) In their entirety, in the event that, as a result of the Court’s findings in the Appeal of the 
Proceedings, the Company is prevented from continuing exploration and subsequent mining 
activities in connection with the Isabel Nickel Project within 12 months after the Appeal decision 
is handed down; or 

b) Pro-rata, in the event that Mr Mount ceases to be employed by the Company before the end of 
the five year term (other than termination by the Company without cause or where a change of 
control event (as defined under the Director and Executive Performance Rights Plan) occurs. 

Each tranche of Rights will be issued at a nil exercise price. The rights are subject to the satisfaction 
of the relevant Performance Conditions, vesting and exercise, each Right entitles Mr Mount to one 
Share. The maximum number of Rights and hence the maximum number of Shares that may be 
issued to Mr Mount, and in the case of the LTI Rights, subject to the satisfaction of the relevant 
Performance Conditions, vesting and exercise is 12,000,000 Shares. 

The Rights will lapse if not exercised or forfeited before the date which is 12 months from: 

a) the date of issue of the STI Rights; or 
b) the satisfaction of the Performance Condition, in the case of the LTI Rights. 

Once the Rights become exercisable, the Rights may be exercised at any time prior to either their 
lapsing or being forfeited but subject to the following restrictions on their transfer: 

a) 20% may be sold immediately 

b) 15% restricted from transfer for three months 

c) 15% restricted from transfer for six months and 

d) the balance restricted from transfer whilst Mr Mount remains the Chief Executive Officer of the 
Company. 

At the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 15 October 2015, the shareholders approved the issue 
of the 150,000 Performance Rights at an exercise price of $0.50. The Rights may not be exercised 
before 31 December 2015 and will expire on 30 June 2017. 

 
 Number of 

rights 
Expiry date Fair value  

per share at  
approval date 

Exercise 
Price 

Number 
Vested 

      
Jeremy Gray 150,000 30 June 2017 0.067 cents 0.50 cents - 

 

Once the Rights become exercisable, the Rights may be exercised at any time prior to either their 
lapsing or being forfeited but subject to the following restrictions on their transfer: 

a) 20% may be sold immediately 
b) 15% restricted from transfer for three months 
c) 15% restricted from transfer for six months and 
d) the balance restricted from transfer whilst Mr Gray remains the Director of the Company. 

The Rights are subject to such other terms and conditions in relation to participation in share issues 
and bonus issues, takeover of the Company and other matters in accordance with the Director and 
Executive Performance Rights Plan and the invitation provided in connection with the Rights. 
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Remuneration report (continued) 

c) Performance rights plan (continued) 

The fair value at grant date is independently determined using a Black-Scholes pricing model that 
takes into account the exercise price, the term of the rights, the impact of dilution, the share price at 
grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the 
risk free interest rate for the term of the rights.  

d) Service agreements 

The Group has service agreements with the CEO, CFO and other key management personnel (‘KMP’). 
The CEO’s agreement contains provisions for payment of a cash bonus, other benefits including 
accommodation and living expenses in Honiara, and participation in the Senior Executive 
Performance Rights Plan. Key management personnel agreements contain provisions for 
participation where eligible in the Company’s Performance Rights Plan. 

Ryan Richard Mount, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director 

 Terms of agreement: Appointed as CEO and Executive Director—extended for a further five 
years commencing 1 March 2015. 

 Total Remuneration Package of $750,000 plus superannuation per annum to be reviewed 
annually by the Board. 

 Mr Mount is required to be frequently based in Solomon Islands, and accommodation and 
living expenses in Honiara are met by the Company.   

 Non-cash benefits include life insurance cover, accommodation and a company vehicle whilst 
in Solomon Islands. 

 2.4 million Performance Rights were granted as short term incentives pursuant to the 
Director and Senior Executive Performance Rights Plan during the year.  

 9.6 million Performance Rights were granted as long term incentives pursuant to the Director 
and Senior Executive Performance Rights Plan.  

 Mr Mount is also entitled to an additional bonus that may from time to time be approved at 
the discretion of the Board. No additional bonus has been granted for the 2015 year. 

 Notice period by the Company: 24 months. 

 Notice period by the employee: 12 months. 

Sailesh Solanki, Chief Financial Officer 

 Terms of agreement: Appointed as CFO with no fixed term commencing 8 September 2014. 

 Total Remuneration Package of $185,000 plus superannuation per annum.  

 Non-cash benefits represent car parking near the corporate office. 

 Bonus scheme at the Board’s discretion includes invitation to participate in the Employee 
Performance Rights Scheme.   

 No bonus was issued in 2015. 

 Notice period three months. 

Vivian Lim, Corporate Affairs Manager 

 Terms of agreement: Appointed with no fixed term commencing 1 May 2014.   

 Total Remuneration Package of $170,000 plus superannuation per annum. 

 Short term incentive scheme: Invitation to earn in 66,667 Performance Rights under the 
Employee Performance Rights Scheme.  

 Long term incentive scheme: Entitled to 266,667 Performance Rights over the next three 
years, starting 1 May 2015 under the Employee Performance Rights Scheme at the Board’s 
discretion. 

 No bonus was issued in 2015. 
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 Notice period one month. 

Remuneration report (continued) 

d) Service agreements 

Juan Jeffery, Executive General Manager Mining Operations 

 Terms of agreement: Appointed with no fixed term commencing 29 July 2015. 

 Total Remuneration Package of $250,000 plus superannuation per annum. 

 Long term incentive scheme: Invitation to participate in the Employee Performance Rights 
Scheme at the Board’s discretion, with the opportunity to earn 500,000 Performance Rights 
over the next three years, starting 29 January 2016. 

 No bonus was issued in 2015. 

 Notice period of three months. 

Andrew Barber, Corporate Development and Strategy Manager 

 Terms of agreement: Appointed with no fixed term commencing 3 March 2015.   

 Total Remuneration Package of $182,648 plus superannuation per annum. 

 Non-cash benefits represent car parking near the corporate office. 

 Long term incentive scheme: Invitation to participate in the Employee Performance Rights 
Scheme at the Board’s discretion, with the opportunity to earn 266,667 Performance Rights 
over the next three years, starting 4 September 2015. 

 No bonus was issued in 2015. 

 Notice period one month. 

Key management personnel employed during the current financial year but not at the date of this 
report: 

Hans Vulker, Human Resources Manager (until 5 October 2014) 

 Terms of agreement: Appointed with no fixed term commencing 4 August 2014. 

 Total Remuneration Package of $160,000 plus superannuation per annum.  

 Bonus scheme at the Board’s discretion. Invitation to earn in 25,000 Performance Rights 
under the Employee Performance Rights Scheme.  

 No bonus was issued in 2015. 

 Notice period of one month. 

John Donald Macansh, Manager Exploration – Oceania (until 18 February 2015) 

 Terms of agreement: Appointed with no fixed term commencing 8 August 2014.   

 Total Remuneration Package of $205,000 plus superannuation per annum. 

 Bonus scheme at the Board’s discretion includes invitation to participate in the Employee 
Performance Rights Scheme. 

 No bonus was issued in 2015. 

 Notice period three months. 
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Remuneration report (continued) 

e) Remuneration of specified Directors and specified executives 

 
Short-term benefits Post-employment benefits 

Share-based 
Payment 

 

S300A(1) 
(e)(i) Proportion 
of remuneration 

performance 
related 

% 

S300A(1) 
(e)(vi)  

Value of share 
rights as 

proportion of 
remuneration 

% 

Twelve 
months to 

30 
September  

Directors’ 
Fees  

$ 

Non- 
monetary 
benefits 

$ 

Super- 
annuation 

$ 

 
Retirement 

benefits 
$ 

Performance*  
Rights 

$ 

Total 
$ 

Non-executive directors: 

Stephen Ray Williams 

2015 50,000** - 4,750 - 27,205 81,955 - 33% 

2014 50,000 - 4,656 - 39,205 93,681 - 42% 

Jeremy Robin Gray        

2015 10,806 - - - - 10,806 - - 

2014 - - - - - - - - 

Total Remuneration        

2015 60,806 - 4,750 - 27,205 92,761 - 29% 

2014 50,000 - 4,656 - 39,205 93,861 - 42% 

* Performance rights were granted in April 2013 following approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting held on 22 

April 2013. The performance rights are charged to expense over the life of the rights. The expense in relation to the 

performance rights is calculated as fair value using the Black-Scholes model. For further disclosure in respect of the 

share-based payment see part (c) Performance Rights Plan of the remuneration report. 

Performance rights issued will vest into fully paid ordinary shares upon specific conditions being achieved. The performance 

condition is a market hurdle as disclosed in part (c) Performance Rights Plan of the remuneration report. The amounts that 

appear are amounts required under Australian Accounting Standards to be expensed by the Company in respect of the 

allocation of long term incentives. Whether or not these performance rights are received will depend on achieving appropriate 

vesting conditions as discussed above. No performance rights were exercised during the year. 

** Fees were set at $80,000 effective from 1 March 2015, and paid subsequent to the year-end.    
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Remuneration report (continued) 

e)    Remuneration of specified Directors and specified executives (continued) 

 
Short-term benefits 

Post-employment 
benefits 

Share-based 
Payment  

S300A(1)(e)(i) 
Proportion of 
remuneration 
performance 

related 
% 

S300A(1)(e)(vi) 
Value of share 

rights as 
proportion of 
remuneration 

% 

Twelve 
months to 

30 
September 

Primary 
Salary and 

fees 
$ 

Non- 
monetary 
benefits 

$ 

Super- 
annuation 

$ 

Retirement 
benefits 

$ 

Performance* 
Rights 

$ 

Total 
$ 

Executive Director 

Ryan Richard Mount  
Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director 

2015 649,231 153,924 49,913 - 367,723 1,220,791 - 30% 
2014 433,300 - 32,900 - 280,641 746,841 - 38% 

Other Key Management Personnel 
Sailesh Solanki 
Chief Financial Officer       

2015 192,747 15,052 17,575 - - 225,374 - - 

2014 12,865 538 1,132 - - 14,535 - - 

Juan Jeffery 
Executive General Manager Mining Operations 

2015 47,082 - 4,154 - - 51,236 - - 

2014 - - - - - - - - 
Vivian Lim 
Corporate Affairs Manager 

      

2015 144,976 - 13,357 - - 158,333 - - 
2014 54,157 - 5,091 - - 59,248 - - 

Andrew Barber 
Corporate Development & Strategy Manager 

2015 125,661 7,677 11,200 - - 144,538 - - 
2014 - - - - - - - - 

Former Key Management Personnel 

John Donald Macansh 
Exploration Manager 

      

2015 88,757 - 7,550 - - 96,307 - - 
2014 34,669 - 2,711 - - 37,380 - - 

Hans Vulker 
Human Resources Manager 

      

2015 159,167 - 13,814 - - 172,981 - - 
2014 26,461 - 2,318 - - 28,779 - - 

Jess Timothy Oram 
General Manager Exploration 

2015 - - - - - - - - 
2014 172,270 - 16,000 - - 188,270 - - 

Total Remuneration 

2015 1,407,621 176,653 117,563 - 367,723 2,069,560 - - 

2014 733,722 538 60,152 - 280,641 1,075,053 - - 

*For an explanation of performance rights refer to the footnote below the non-executive directors’ remuneration table on the 

previous page. 
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Remuneration report (continued) 

Share Options and Performance Rights 

Under the Directors and Executives Performance Rights Plan (approved by shareholders on 22 April 
2013): 

 No(1) performance rights were issued to Directors (2014: Nil) 

 No performance rights were issued to employees (2014: Nil) 

 Nil performance rights lapsed during the year (2014: Nil); and 

 No performance rights were exercised by Directors and employees during the year  
(2014: Nil). 

(1) 12 million Rights were approved by shareholders to Mr Mount on 31 March 2015. The Rights have not been issued. A further 

150,000 Rights at the exercise price of $0.50 were issued to Mr Gray following approval at the Extraordinary General meeting 

held of 15 October 2015. 

Details of the movements as at 30 September 2015 are as follows: 

 

No of rights 

outstanding as at 

 1 October 2014 

Granted 

during 

the year 

Exercised 

during the 

year 

Lapsed during 

the year 

No. of rights 

outstanding as at 

30 September 

2015 

      

Stephen Ray Williams 833,332 - - (166,666)  666,666(2) 

Ryan Richard Mount 6,666,661 - - (6,666,661) (3) - 

      

 7,499,993 - - (6,833,327) 666,666 
 

(2)The VWAP hurdles relating to the 666,666 Rights were not met by 21 October 2015 and have lapsed. 
(3) Cancelled post year-end as detailed in Resolution 6 of the Annual General Meeting dated 31 March 2015. 

 

During the year, 36,136,163 (2014: 37,427,040) options to acquire ordinary shares in the Company 
were issued and 57,553,885 (2014: 4,935,060) options expired. 

Options over ordinary shares of the Company as at 30 September 2015 were as follows: 

Grant date Date of expiry Exercise price Number under option 

24/09/12 20/12/15 $0.30 133,333 

04/03/13 15/02/16 $0.30 1,666,667 

04/03/13 15/02/16 $0.30 1,666,666 

10/02/14 10/02/17 $0.2805 883,333 

02/06/15 31/05/16 $0.30 2,000,000 

10/07/15 31/05/16 $0.40 3,000,000 

10/07/15 31/05/16 $0.55 4,500,000 

10/07/15 31/05/16 $0.175 666,666 

10/07/15 31/05/16 $0.35 400,000 

10/07/15 31/05/16 $0.50 100,000 

   15,016,665 

Option holders do not have any rights to participate in any issues of shares or other interests in the 
Company or any other entity. 
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Remuneration report (continued) 

Share Options and Performance Rights (continued) 

Details of shares or interests issued during or since the end of the financial year as a result of 
exercise of options are: 

Number of shares 
issued 

Class of shares 
Amount paid for shares  

$000 

Amount unpaid on 
shares  
$000 

3,764,653 Ordinary 953 - 
 

ASIC Class Order 98/100 rounding of amounts 

The Company is an entity to which ASIC Class Order 98/100 applies and, accordingly, amounts in the 
financial statements and directors’ report have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars. 

Likely developments and expected results 

In the opinion of the Directors it may prejudice the interests of the Company to provide additional 
information in relation to the future developments and business strategies of the operations of the 
Company and the expected results of those operations in subsequent financial years. 

Environmental regulation 

The Group is subject to significant environmental regulation with respect to its exploration activities. 
The Group aims to ensure that the appropriate standard of environmental care is achieved, and in 
doing so, that it is aware of and is in compliance with all environmental legislation. The Directors of 
the Company are not aware of any breach of environmental legislation for the year under review. 

Auditors  

The Group’s financial statements have been audited by Hall Chadwick Chartered Accountants and 
Business Advisors.  

Other transactions with KMP and their related parties 

Apart from the transactions disclosed in the remuneration report above and in Note 20 to the 
consolidated financial statements, there were no other transactions conducted between the Group 
and KMP or their related parties, relating to equity, compensation and loans, that were conducted 
other than in accordance with normal employee, customer or supplier relationships on terms no 
more favourable than those reasonably expected under arm’s length dealings with unrelated 
persons. 

Indemnification of officers and auditors 

During the financial year, the Company paid an insurance premium in respect of a contract insuring 
Directors and officers against liability of arising from claims brought against them individually or 
jointly while performing services for the Company, and against expenses relating thereto, in 
accordance with the Company’s constitution. In accordance with commercial practice, the insurance  
policy prohibits disclosure of the amount of the premium and the nature and the amount of the 
liability covered. 
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Non-audit services 

The Board of Directors, in accordance with advice from the audit committee, is satisfied that the 
provision of non-audit services during the year is compatible with the general standard of 
independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The directors are satisfied that the 
services disclosed below did not compromise the external auditor’s independence for the following 
reasons: 

 all non-audit services are reviewed and approved by the Board prior to commencement to 
ensure they do not adversely affect the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and  

 the nature of the services provided does not compromise the general principles relating to 
auditor independence in accordance with APES 110: Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants set by the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board. 

Audit fees and fees for non-audit services are disclosed in Note 19 to the consolidated financial 
statements. 

Auditor’s independence declaration 

The lead auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 30 September 2015 has been 
received and can be found on page 16 of the financial report. 

This Directors’ Report, incorporating the Remuneration Report, is signed in accordance with a 
resolution of the Board of Directors. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

 
 
 
Stephen Ray Williams 
Chairman 
 
Dated at Brisbane 21 December 2015 



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

AXIOM MINING LIMITED AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

ABN 119 698 770 
 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
UNDER SECTION 307C OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 

TO THE DIRECTORS OF  AXIOM MINING LIMITED 
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 September 
2015 there have been no contraventions of: 
 

i.  the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 in 
relation to the audit; and 

ii. any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 
 
 

 
Hall Chadwick  
Level 40, 2 Park Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
 

 
Drew Townsend 
PARTNER 
21 December 2015  
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Axiom Mining Limited 
Consolidated statement of profit or loss 
For the year ended 30 September 2015 

 

  
2015 2014 

 

Notes $000 $000 

Revenue 

 

 
 

Interest income 

 
12 3 

Sundry income 

 
7 92 

Total revenue  

 
19 95 

    

Depreciation and amortisation 10 (326) (206) 

Employee benefits expense  (2,960) (2,833) 

Superannuation  (212) (145) 

Impairment loss on mineral exploration expenditure  (17) (1,560) 

Exploration costs  (471) (1,425) 

Foreign exchange (loss)/gain 

 
(37) 49 

Administration and other expenses 4 (6,386) (9,291) 

Rent and occupancy costs 

 
(369) (277) 

Share-based payments  (902) - 

Write-off of subsidiary  (133) - 

Finance costs   (666) (287) 

    

Loss before income tax  

 
(12,460) (15,880) 

Income tax benefit/(expense) 5 - - 

 
Loss for the year      (12,460) (15,880) 

 
 

 
  

Loss for the year after tax attributable to members of the 
Company:    

Owners of the Company  (11,931) (15,692) 

Non-controlling interests  (529) (188) 

 
  (12,460) (15,880) 

 
Loss per share  Cents Cents 

Basic and diluted 6 (5.0) (0.57) 

 
 

The notes on pages 23 to 57 form part of these financial statements.
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Axiom Mining Limited 
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
For the year ended 30 September 2015 
    
  2015 2014 

  $000 $000 

Loss for the year 
 

(12,460) (15,880) 

Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: 
 

  

Exchange differences on translation of foreign controlled entities 
 

385 (90) 

Total comprehensive loss for the year  
 

(12,075) (15,970) 

 
Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to: 

 

  

Owners of the Company 
 

(11,546) (15,782) 

Non-controlling interests 
 

(529) (188) 

 
 

(12,075) (15,970) 

  
 

The notes on pages 23 to 57 form part of these financial statements. 
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Axiom Mining Limited 
Consolidated statement of financial position 
As at 30 September 2015 
    
  2015 2014 
 Notes $000 $000 

Assets  
  

Current assets  
  

Cash and cash equivalents 7 1,306 2,304 
Other receivables 8 1,129 1,091 

Total current assets  2,435 3,395 

    
Non-current assets    
Property, plant and equipment 10 2,011 2,059 
Mineral exploration expenditure 11 9,158 2,472 

Total non-current assets  11,169 4,531 

Total assets  13,604 7,926 

    
Liabilities    
Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables 12 3,937 1,768 
Borrowings 13 1,132 686 
Lease liabilities 14 516 377 
Provisions 15 340 153 

Total current liabilities  5,925 2,984 

Non-current liabilities 
   

Lease liabilities 14 2,332 1,958 
Provisions  15 5 - 

Total non-current liabilities  2,337 1,958 

Total liabilities  8,262 4,942 

    
NET ASSETS  5,342 2,984 

    
Equity    
Issued capital 16(a) 91,433 77,902 
Reserves 16(b) 1,192 (95) 

Retained losses  (85,054) (73,395) 

Equity attributable to owners of the Company  7,571 4,412 
Non-controlling interests  (2,229) (1,428) 

TOTAL EQUITY  5,342 2,984 

 
 

The notes on pages 23 to 57 form part of these financial statements.



 

20 

 

Axiom Mining Limited 
Consolidated statements of changes in equity 
For the year ended 30 September 2015 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

The notes on pages 23 to 57 form part of these financial statements. 

 Share 
capital 

Foreign currency 
translation 

reserve 

Share-based 
payment 

reserve 
Accumulated 

losses Subtotal 

Non- 
controlling 

interests 
Total 

Equity 
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

At 1 October 2013 62,633 (1,125) 417 (57,703) 4,222 (1,240) 2,982 
 
Loss for the year - - - (15,692) (15,692) (188) (15,880) 

Other comprehensive loss - (90) - - (90) - (90) 

Total comprehensive loss for the year - (90) - (15,692) (15,782) (188) (15,970) 
 
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners 
Shares issued during the year 15,093 - - - 15,093 - 15,093 

Prepayment for exercise of options 176 - - - 176 - 176 

Share performance rights expense - - 336 - 336 - 336 

Share option expense  - - 367 - 367 - 367 

Total transactions with owners and other transfers 15,269 - 703  15,972 - 15,972 

As at 30 September 2014 77,902 (1,215) 1,120 (73,395) 4,412 (1,428) 2,984 

At 1 October 2014 77,902 (1,215) 1,120 (73,395) 4,412 (1,428) 2,984 
 
Loss for the year    (11,931) (11,931) (529) (12,460) 

Other comprehensive loss - 385 - 272 657 (272) 385 

Total comprehensive loss for the year - 385 - (11,659) (11,274) (801) (12,075) 

 
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners        

Shares issued during the year net of transaction costs 13,510 - - - 13,510 - 13,510 

Prepayment for exercise of options 21 - - - 21 - 21 

Share performance rights expense - - 395 - 395 - 395 

Share option expense  - - 507 - 507 - 507 

Total transactions with owners and other transfers 13,531 - 902 - 14,433 - 14,433 

As at 30 September 2015 91,433 (830) 2,022 (85,054) 7,571 (2,229) 5,342 
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Axiom Mining Limited 
Consolidated statement of cash flows 
for the year ended 30 September 2015 
 
  2015 2014 
 Note $000 $000 

Cash flows from operating activities    
Payments to suppliers and employees  (8,498) (12,480) 
Interest received  12 3 
Sundry income  7 91 
Interest paid  (15) (11) 

    
Net cash outflow from operating activities 17 (8,494) (12,397) 

 
Cash outflows from investing activities    
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (205) (195) 
Mineral exploration expenditure  (6,087) (960) 

Net cash outflow from investing activities  (6,292) (1,155) 

    
Cash flows from financing activities    
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares  7,920 14,527 
Proceeds from borrowings  6,080 650 
Repayment of borrowings  (226) (13) 

Net cash inflow from financing activities  13,774 15,164 

    
Net (decrease)/ increase in cash and cash equivalents  (1,012) 1,612 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year  2,304 691 
Effect of exchange rate changes  14 1 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 
 
 1,306 2,304 

 
 

The notes on pages 23 to 57 form part of these financial statements. 
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1 Company information 

Axiom Mining Limited (the ‘Company’) is a Company incorporated in Hong Kong. 

Registered office:   2303-7 Dominion Centre, 43-59 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong. 
Principal place of business:  Unit 6, 76 Doggett Street Newstead QLD 4006, Australia. 

The Company’s shares are listed on the Australian Securities Exchange. 

The Company and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) are principally engaged in mineral exploration in 
Australia, Solomon Islands and Vietnam. 

2 Significant accounting policies 

(a) Statement of compliance 

The consolidated financial statements and notes represent those of Axiom Mining Limited and the 
Controlled Entities (the ‘Consolidated Group’ or ‘Group’). 

The separate financial statements of the parent entity, Axiom Mining Limited, have not been 
prepared within this financial report as permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue on 21 December 2015. 

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) and International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board. The Group is a for-profit entity for financial reporting 
purposes under Australian Accounting Standards. Material accounting policies adopted in the 
preparation of these financial statements are presented below and have been consistently applied 
unless stated otherwise. 

Except for cash flow information, the financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis 
and are based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of 
selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities. 

The AASB has issued certain new and revised AASB Standards (‘AASBs’) that are first effective or 
available for early adoption for the current accounting period of the Group and of the Company. 
Note 2(x) provides information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial 
application of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current 
and prior accounting periods reflected in these financial statements. 

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements 

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis except that property, 
plant and equipment are stated at their revalued amount, being the fair value at the date of 
revaluation as explained in the accounting policy set out in Note 2(e). The financial statements are 
presented in Australian dollars (‘AUD’), which is also the functional currency of the Company. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with AASBs requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts 
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values 
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates. 
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued) 

Significant accounting estimates and assumptions 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods. Judgements made by management in the application of AASBs that have 
significant effect on the financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of material 
adjustment in the next year are disclosed in Note 24. 

Going concern 

The Group has recorded a net loss of $12,460K (2014: $15,880K), had net cash outflows from 
operations of $8,494K (2014: $12,397K) for the year and has no ongoing source of income. At 30 
September 2015, the Group had net assets of $5,342K (2014: $2,984K). 

The financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis that assumes the realisation of 
assets and extinguishment of liabilities in the normal course of business and at the amounts stated 
in the financial statements. 

The directors believe the going concern basis is appropriate for the following reasons: 

 at 30 September 2015, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of $1,306K 

 on 4 November 2015 the Company announced that it had entered into a convertible note 
facility agreement for up to $15 million to project fund the development of the Isabel Nickel 
Project through a strategic partnership with experienced resource venture capitalist and 
project incubator InCor Holdings Plc (‘InCoR’). As part of the agreement, Axiom issued one 
secured convertible note with a face value of $5,000,000, convertible to a maximum issue of 
13,513,514 fully paid ordinary shares based on a conversion price of $0.37 per share 

 the ability to raise additional share capital by share placements, options, convertible notes,  
or rights issue 

 the ability to farm out all or part of its exploration projects 

 the ability to sell particular exploration projects; and 

 the ability to renew pending exploration applications based on previous experience. 

Accordingly, the Directors are confident in the ability of the Group and the Company to successfully 
secure sufficient cash inflows to enable it to continue as a going concern and that it is appropriate to 
adopt the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements. 

  



Axiom Mining Limited 
Notes to the financial statements  
For the year ended 30 September 2015 
 

25 
 

2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(c) Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate all of the assets, liabilities and results of the 
parent (Axiom Mining Limited) and all of the subsidiaries (including any structured entities). 
Subsidiaries are entities that the parent controls. The parent controls an entity when it is exposed to, 
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power over the entity. A list of the subsidiaries is provided in Note 9. 

The assets, liabilities and results of all subsidiaries are fully consolidated into the financial 
statements of the Group from the date on which control is obtained by the Group. The consolidation 
of a subsidiary is discontinued from the date that control ceases. Intercompany transactions, 
balances and unrealised gains or losses on transactions between Group entities are fully eliminated 
on consolidation. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed and adjustments made 
where necessary to ensure uniformity of the accounting policies adopted by the Group. 

Equity interests in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Group are presented as 
“non-controlling interests”. The Group initially recognises non-controlling interests that are present 
ownership interests in subsidiaries and are entitled to a proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net 
assets on liquidation at either fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of 
the subsidiary’s net assets. Subsequent to initial recognition, non-controlling interests are attributed 
their share of profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income. Non-controlling 
interests are shown separately within the equity section of the statement of financial position and 
statement of comprehensive income. 

(d) Business combinations 

A business combination is accounted for by applying the acquisition method, unless it is a 
combination involving entities or businesses under common control. The business combination will 
be accounted for from the date that control is attained, whereby the fair value of the identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities (including contingent liabilities) assumed is recognised (subject to 
certain limited exemptions). 

When measuring the consideration transferred in the business combination, any asset or liability 
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement is also included. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, contingent consideration classified as equity is not re-measured and its subsequent 
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability 
is re-measured in each reporting period to fair value, recognising any change to fair value in profit or 
loss, unless the change in value can be identified as existing at acquisition date. 

All transaction costs incurred in relation to business combinations, other than those associated with 
the issue of a financial instrument, are recognised as expenses in profit or loss when incurred. 

The acquisition of a business may result in the recognition of goodwill or a gain from a bargain 
purchase. 
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(e) Fair value of assets and liabilities 

The Group measures some of its assets and liabilities at fair value on either a recurring or 
non-recurring basis, depending on the requirements of the applicable Accounting Standard. 

Fair value is the price the Group would receive to sell an asset or would have to pay to transfer a 
liability in an orderly (i.e. unforced) transaction between independent, knowledgeable and willing 
market participants at the measurement date. 

As fair value is a market-based measure, the closest equivalent observable market pricing 
information is used to determine fair value. Adjustments to market values may be made having 
regard to the characteristics of the specific asset or liability. The fair values of assets and liabilities 
that are not traded in an active market are determined using one or more valuation techniques. 
These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of observable market data. 

To the extent possible, market information is extracted from either the principal market for the asset 
or liability (i.e. the market with the greatest volume and level of activity for the asset or liability) or, 
in the absence of such a market, the most advantageous market available to the entity at the end of 
the reporting period (i.e. the market that maximises the receipts from the sale of the asset or 
minimises the payments made to transfer the liability, after taking into account transaction costs 
and transport costs). 

For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement also takes into account a market participant’s 
ability to use the asset in its highest and best use or to sell it to another market participant that 
would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The fair value of liabilities and the entity’s own equity instruments (excluding those related to 
share-based payment arrangements) may be valued, where there is no observable market price in 
relation to the transfer of such financial instruments, by reference to observable market information 
where such instruments are held as assets. Where this information is not available, other valuation 
techniques are adopted and, where significant, are detailed in the respective note to the financial 
statements. 
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(f) Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the balance sheet at cost or revaluation less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Leasehold land is stated at its fair value, which has 
been determined considering future lease payments, term of the lease and implied interest. 

Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount of these 
assets does not exceed their recoverable amount at balance sheet date. 

Changes arising on the revaluation of property, plant and equipment are generally dealt with in 
other comprehensive income and are accumulated separately in equity in the asset revaluation 
reserve. The only exceptions are as follows: 

 when a deficit arises on revaluation, it will be charged to profit or loss to the extent that it 
exceeds the amount held in the reserve in respect of that same asset immediately prior to 
the revaluation; and 

 when a surplus arises on revaluation, it will be credited to profit or loss to the extent that a 
deficit in respect of that same asset had previously been charged to profit or loss. 

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are 
determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item 
and are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Any related revaluation surplus is 
transferred from the revaluation reserve to accumulated losses. Depreciation is calculated to write off 
the cost or revaluation of items of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual value, if 
any, using the straight line method over their estimated useful lives. The principal annual rates used for 
this purpose are as follows: 

 Leasehold land    over the lease term 

 Leasehold improvements             over the lease term 

 Plant and equipment   20% - 33%   

Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually, and adjusted if 
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. 

(g) Mineral exploration expenditure 

Mineral exploration, evaluation and development expenditures incurred are capitalised in respect of 
each identifiable area of interest. These costs are only capitalised to the extent that they are 
expected to be recovered through the successful development of the area or where activities in the 
area have not yet reached a stage that permits reasonable assessment of the existence of 
economically recoverable reserves. 

Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written-off in full against profit or loss in the 
year in which the decision to abandon the area is made. When production commences, the 
accumulated costs for the relevant area of interest are amortised over the life of the area according 
to the rate of depletion of the economically recoverable reserves. 

A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of 
continuing to capitalise costs in relation to that area. 

Costs of site restoration are provided for over the life of the project from when exploration 
commences and are included in the costs of that stage. Site restoration costs include the dismantling 
and removal of mining plant, equipment and building structures, waste removal, and rehabilitation 
of the site in accordance with local laws and regulations and clauses of the permits. Such costs have 
been determined using estimates of future costs, current legal requirements and technology on an 
undiscounted basis. 
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(g) Mineral exploration expenditure (continued) 

Any changes in the estimates for the costs are accounted for on a prospective basis. In determining 
the costs of site restoration, there is uncertainty regarding the nature and extent of the restoration 
due to community expectations and future legislation. Accordingly, the costs have been determined 
on the basis that the restoration will be completed within one year of abandoning the site. 

(h) Leases 

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of transactions, is or contains a lease if the 
Group determines that the arrangement conveys a right to a specific asset or assets for an agreed 
period of time in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such a determination is made based 
on an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement regardless of whether the arrangement takes 
the legal form of a lease. 

Assets that are held by the Group under leases that transfer to the Group substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership are classified as being held under finance leases. Leases which do not 
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group are classified as operating 
leases, with the following exception: land held for own use under an operating lease, the fair value 
of which cannot be measured separately from the fair value of a building situated thereon at the 
inception of the lease, is accounted for as being held under a finance lease, unless the building is 
also clearly held under an operating lease. For these purpose, the inception of the lease is the time 
that the lease was first entered into by the Group, or taken over from the previous lessee. 

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under finance leases, the amounts representing the fair 
value of the leased asset, or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, of such 
assets is included in fixed assets and the corresponding liabilities, net of finance charges, are 
recorded as obligations under finance leases. Depreciation is provided at rates that write-off the cost 
or valuation of the assets over the term of the relevant lease or, where it is likely the Group will 
obtain ownership of the asset, the life of the asset, as set out in Note 2(f). Finance charges implicit in 
the lease payments are charged to profit or loss over the period of the leases so as to produce an 
approximately constant periodic rate of charge on the remaining balance of the obligations for each 
accounting period. Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which 
they are incurred. 

Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating leases, payments made under the 
leases are charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over the accounting periods covered by the 
lease term, except where an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be 
derived from the leased asset. Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an 
integral part of the aggregate net lease payments made. Contingent rentals are charged to profit or 
loss in the accounting period in which they are incurred. 
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(i) Impairment of assets 

(i) Impairment of investments in equity securities and other receivables 

Investments in other current and non-current receivables that are stated at cost or amortised cost 
are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is objective evidence of 
impairment. Objective evidence of impairment includes observable data that comes to the attention 
of the Group regarding one or more of the following loss events: 

 Significant financial difficulty of the debtor 

 A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments 

 It becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation 

 Significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that have an 
adverse effect on the debtor 

 A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment in an equity instrument 
below its cost. 

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is determined and recognised as follows: 

 For unquoted equity securities carried at cost, the impairment loss is measured as the 
difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the estimated future cash 
flows, discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset where the 
effect of discounting is material. Impairment losses for equity securities carried at cost are 
not reversed. 

 For trade and other current receivables, the impairment loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest 
rate computed at initial recognition of these assets), where the effect of discounting is 
material. This assessment is made collectively where financial assets carried at amortised 
cost share similar risk characteristics, such as similar past due status, and have not been 
individually assessed as impaired. Future cash flows for financial assets that are assessed for 
impairment collectively are based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk 
characteristics similar to the collective group. 

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 
linked objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the impairment 
loss is reversed through profit or loss. A reversal of an impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeding that which would have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognised in prior years. 

Impairment losses are written-off against the corresponding assets directly, except for impairment 
losses recognised in respect of other receivables whose recovery is considered doubtful but not 
remote. In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts are recorded using an allowance 
account. When the Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the amount considered irrecoverable 
is written-off against other receivables directly and any amounts held in the allowance account 
relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously charged to the 
allowance account are reversed against the allowance account. Other changes in the allowance 
account and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written-off directly are recognised in 
profit or loss. 
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

i) Impairment of assets (continued) 

(ii) Impairment of mineral exploration expenditure 

The carrying amount of the mineral exploration expenditure is reviewed annually and adjusted for 
impairment whenever one of the following events or changes in circumstances indicates that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable: 

 The period for which the Group has the right to explore in the specific area has expired 
during the period or will expire in the near future, and is not expected to be renewed; 

 Substantive expenditure on further exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the 
specific area is neither budgeted nor planned; 

 Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area have not led to the 
discovery of commercially viable quantities of mineral resources and the Group has decided 
to discontinue such activities in the specific area; or 

 Sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a development in the specific area is likely to 
proceed, the carrying amount of the mineral exploration expenditure is unlikely to be 
recovered in full from successful development or by sale. 

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds 
its recoverable amount. 

(iii) Impairment of other assets 

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at each balance sheet date to identify 
indications that the following assets may be impaired or an impairment loss previously recognised 
no longer exists or may have decreased: 

 Property, plant and equipment 

 Investments in subsidiaries in the parent company’s balance sheet. 

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

Calculation of recoverable amount 

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its net selling price and value in use. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent of 
those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of assets that 
generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). 

Recognition of impairment losses 

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss whenever the carrying amount of an asset, or the 
cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses 
recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated to reduce the carrying amount of assets 
in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset will not 
be reduced below its individual fair value less costs to sell, or value in use, if determinable. 

Reversal of impairment losses 

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount. 
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(i) Impairment of assets (continued) 

(iii) Impairment of other assets (continued) 

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses 
are credited to profit or loss in the year in which the reversals are recognised. 

(j) Income tax 

The income tax expense/(benefit) for the year comprises current income tax expense/(benefit) and 
deferred tax expense/(benefit). 

Current income tax expense charged to profit or loss is the tax payable on taxable income. Current 
tax liabilities/(assets) are measured at the amounts expected to be paid to/(recovered from) the 
relevant taxation authority. 

Deferred income tax expense reflects movements in deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability 
balances during the year as well as unused tax losses. 

Current and deferred income tax expense/(benefit) are charged or credited outside profit or loss 
when the tax relates to items that are recognised outside profit or loss. 

Except for business combinations, no deferred income tax is recognised from the initial recognition 
of an asset or liability, where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the 
period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled and their measurement also reflects the 
manner in which management expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of the related asset 
or liability. With respect to non-depreciable items of property, plant and equipment measured at fair 
value and items of investment property measured at fair value, the related deferred tax liability or 
deferred tax asset is measured on the basis that the carrying amount of the asset will be recovered 
entirely through sale. 

Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to 
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of 
the deferred tax asset can be utilised. 

Where temporary differences exist in relation to investments in subsidiaries, branches, associates, 
and joint ventures, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised where the timing of the 
reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is not probable that the reversal will 
occur in the foreseeable future. 

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists and it is 
intended that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and 
liability will occur. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where: (a) a legally enforceable right 
of set-off exists; and (b) the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the 
same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where it is 
intended that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and 
liability will occur in future periods in which significant amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities 
are expected to be recovered or settled. 
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(k) Other receivables 

Other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost less 
allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see Note 2(i)(i)), except where the receivables are 
interest-free loans made to related parties without any fixed repayment terms or the effect of 
discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less allowance for 
impairment of doubtful debts. 

(l) Other payables 

Other payables are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently stated at amortised cost 
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. 

(m) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and 
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible 
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having 
been within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand 
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also included as a component of cash 
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the cash flow statement. 

(n) Employee benefits 

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined contribution retirement plans 
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are 
rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement is defined and the effect would be material, 
these amounts are stated at their present values. Superannuation is paid in accordance with 
applicable local government legislation. 

Short-term employee benefits 

Provision is made for the Group’s obligation for short-term employee benefits. Short-term employee 
benefits are benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly before 
12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related 
service, including wages, salaries and sick leave. Short-term employee benefits are measured at the 
(undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when the obligation is settled. 

The Group’s obligations for short-term employee benefits such as wages, salaries and sick leave are 
recognised as a part of current trade and other payables in the statement of financial position. The 
Group’s obligations for employees’ annual leave and long service leave entitlements are recognised 
as provisions in the statement of financial position. 

Other long-term employee benefits 

Provision is made for employees’ long service leave and annual leave entitlements not expected to 
be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the 
employees render the related service. Other long-term employee benefits are measured at the 
present value of the expected future payments to be made to employees. Expected future payments 
incorporate anticipated future wage and salary levels, durations of service and employee departures 
and are discounted at rates determined by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting 
period on government bonds that have maturity dates that approximate the terms of the 
obligations. Any re-measurements for changes in assumptions of obligations for other long-term 
employee benefits are recognised in profit or loss in the periods in which the changes occur. 
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(n) Employee benefits (continued) 

The Group’s obligations for long-term employee benefits are presented as non-current provisions in 
its statement of financial position, except where the Group does not have an unconditional right to 
defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period, in which case the 
obligations are presented as current provisions. 

(o) Share-based payments 

The fair value of share options granted to employees and others is recognised as an employee cost 
with a corresponding increase in a reserve within equity. The fair value of shares granted to service 
providers is recognised as an expense and classified by nature. The fair value is measured at grant 
date using the Black Scholes option pricing model, as appropriate, taking into account the terms and 
conditions upon which the options were granted. Where the employees have to meet vesting 
conditions before becoming unconditionally entitled to the options, the total estimated fair value of 
the options is spread over the vesting period, taking into account the probability that the options will 
vest. 

During the vesting period, the number of share options that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any 
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged or credited to the profit 
or loss for the year of the review, unless the original employee expenses qualify for recognition as an 
asset, with a corresponding adjustment to the reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as 
an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of options that vest (with a corresponding 
adjustment to the reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving vesting conditions 
that relate to the market price of the Company’s shares.  

(p) Goods and services tax (GST) 

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), 
except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In these 
circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the 
expenses. Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of 
GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as a current asset or liability 
in the balance sheet. 

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. The GST components of cash 
flows arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority are classified as operating cash flows. 

(q) Provisions and contingent liabilities 

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group or the 
Company has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that 
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can 
be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of 
the expenditure expected to settle the obligation. 

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount 
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the 
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only 
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed 
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. 
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(r) Revenue recognition 

Provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and 
costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in profit or loss as follows: 

 Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method 

 Sundry income is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 

(s) Translation of foreign currencies 

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at 
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange gains and losses 
are recognised in profit or loss. 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. 
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value 
are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined. 

The results of foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars at the exchange rates 
approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Balance sheet 
items are translated into Australian dollars at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet 
date. The resulting exchange differences are recognised directly in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange reserve. 

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating to 
that foreign operation is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal 
is recognised. 

(t) Earnings per share 

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS 
is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is determined by 
adjusting the profit or loss attributable to owners and the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise 
convertible notes and share options granted to.  

(u) Segmental reporting 

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the financial statements, 
are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive 
management for the purposes of allocated resources to, and assessing the performance of, the 
Group’s various lines of business and geographical locations. 

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless 
the segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of 
products and services, the nature of production processes, the type or class of customers, the 
methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory 
environment. Operating segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they 
share a majority of these criteria. 
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(v) Convertible notes 

Convertible notes that do not contain an equity component are accounted for as follows: 

At initial recognition the derivative component of the convertible notes is measured at fair value and 
presented as part of derivative financial instruments (see Note 2(w)). Any excess of proceeds over 
the amount initially recognised as the derivative component is recognised as the liability component. 
Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible note are allocated to the liability and 
derivative components in proportion to the allocation of proceeds. The portion of the transaction 
costs relating to the liability component is recognised initially as part of the liability. The portion 
relating to the derivative component is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

The derivative component is subsequently re-measured in accordance with Note 2(w). The liability 
component is subsequently carried at amortised cost. The interest expense recognised in profit or 
loss on the liability component is calculated using the effective interest method. 

If the note is converted, the carrying amounts of the derivative and liability components are 
transferred to share capital as consideration for the shares issued. If the note is redeemed, any 
difference between the amount paid and the carrying amounts of both components is recognised in 
profit or loss. 

(w) Derivative financial instruments 

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value. At the end of each reporting 
period the fair value is re-measured. The gain or loss on re-measurement to fair value is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss. 

(x) New accounting standards for application in future periods 

Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the AASB that are not yet mandatorily  
applicable to the company, together with an assessment of the potential impact of such 
pronouncements on the company when adopted in future periods, are discussed below: 

AASB 9: Financial Instruments and associated Amending Standards (applicable to annual reporting 
periods commencing on or after 1 January 2018). 

The Standard will be applicable retrospectively (subject to the provisions on hedge accounting 
outlined below) and includes revised requirements for the classification and measurement of 
financial instruments, revised recognition and derecognition requirements for financial instruments, 
and simplified requirements for hedge accounting. 

The key changes that may affect the company on initial application include certain simplifications to 
the classification of financial assets, simplifications to the accounting of embedded derivatives, 
upfront accounting for expected credit loss, and the irrevocable election to recognise gains and 
losses on investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading in other comprehensive 
income. AASB 9 also introduces a new model for hedge accounting that will allow greater flexibility 
in the ability to hedge risk, particularly with respect to hedges of non-financial items.  Should the 
entity elect to change its hedge policies in line with the new hedge accounting requirements of this 
Standard, the application of such accounting would be largely prospective. 

Although the directors anticipate that the adoption of AASB 9 may have an impact on the company’s 
financial instruments, including hedging activity, it is impracticable at this stage to provide a 
reasonable estimate of such impact. 
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(x) New accounting standards for application in future periods (continued) 

AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers (applicable to annual reporting periods 
commencing on or after 1 January 2018). 

When effective, this Standard will replace the current accounting requirements applicable to 
revenue with a single, principles-based model.  

Except for a limited number of exceptions, including leases, the new revenue model in AASB 15 will 
apply to all contracts with customers as well as non-monetary exchanges between entities in the 
same line of business to facilitate sales to customers and potential customers. 

The core principle of the Standard is that an entity will recognise revenue to depict the transfer of 
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the 
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for the goods or services.  

To achieve this objective, AASB 15 provides the following five-step process: 

 Identify the contract(s) with a customer 

  identify the performance obligations in the contract(s) 

 Determine the transaction price 

  allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract(s); and 

  recognise revenue when (or as) the performance obligations are satisfied. 

This Standard will require retrospective restatement, as well as enhanced disclosures regarding 
Revenue. 

3 Segment information 

The Group’s operations are predominately confined to mineral exploration within Australia, 
Solomon Islands and Vietnam. 

The Group has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and 
used by the management team in assessing performance and determining the allocation of 
resources. 

The operating segments are identified by management based on the manner in which the expenses 
are incurred and resources allocated. Discrete financial information about each of these operating 
segments is reported to the Board on a regular basis. 

The reportable segments are based on aggregated operating segments determined by similarity of 
expenses, where expenses in the reportable segments exceed 10% of the total expenses for either 
the current and/or previous reporting period. 

 Australia Solomon Islands Vietnam Consolidated 

 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Segment revenue 12 11 7 84 - - 19 95 

Segment result (loss) (10,319) (10,550) (2,081) (4,320) (60) (1,010) (12,460) (15,880) 

Segment assets 1,774 2,976 11,820 4,923 10 27 13,604 7,926 

Segment Liabilities 3,094 1,584 5,163 3,355 5 3 8,262 4,942 
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4 Loss for the year  

  2015 2014 
  $000 $000 

    
Loss before income tax includes the following specific expenses:    

    

Administration and other comprises:    

Legal  2,474 5,500 

Consultants  524 1,564 

Travel  521 882 

Other  2,867 1,345 

  6,386 9,291 

    

Minimum lease payments on operating leases  50 217 

    

5 Tax expense  

  2015 2014 
  $000 $000 

    
The prima facie tax on loss from ordinary activities before income tax 

is reconciled to income tax as follows: 
 

  

Prima facie tax payable on loss from ordinary activities before 

income tax at 30% (2014: 30%) 
 

(3,738) (4,764) 

Add:     

Tax effect of:     

Non-allowable items     

- share options expensed during year   271 211 

- overseas exploration and other expenditure  705 1,741 

- loss on disposal of subsidiary  40 - 

- impairment loss on mineral exploration expenditure  5 - 

Less:     

- difference in overseas tax rate   5 82 

- tax losses and deferred tax not recognised  2,712 2,730 

Income tax attributable to entity  - - 
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6 Loss per share 

(a) Basic loss per share 

The calculation of basic loss per share of 5.0 of a cent per share (2014: 0.57 of a cent per share) is 
based on the loss attributable to owners of the Company of $11,931,000 (2014: $15,692,000) and 
the weighted average number of 239,114,160 ordinary shares (2014: 2,743,020,471 shares) in issue 
during the year, calculated as follows: 

(b) Diluted loss per share 

The diluted loss per share is the same as the basic loss per share as the exercise of the share option 
and the conversion of convertible notes would result in a decrease in loss per share. 

 
  Consolidated Group 

  2015 

$000 

2014 

$000 

(i) Reconciliation of earnings to profit or loss:   

Loss for the year (12,460) (15,880) 

Loss attributable to non-controlling equity interest (529) (188) 

Loss used to calculate basic EPS (11,931) (15,692) 

Loss used in the calculation of dilutive EPS (11,931) (15,692) 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 

 2015 2014 

 No. of shares No. of shares 

Issued ordinary shares at 1 October (Note 16(a)) 3,289,552,750 2,335,067,445 

Effect of share consolidation* (3,070,251,090)  

Effect of placement of shares 4,773,088 112,415,955 

Effect of shares issued as payment for services 210,069 13,689,102 

Effect of issue of shares to employees - 586,667 

Effect of issues under exercise of options 1,344,388 6,844,548 

Effect of issues under share purchase plan and  

conversion of convertible notes 13,484,955 106,783,568 

Effect of issue under agreement  - 43,680,887 

Effect of commencement fee funding  - 5,035,264 

Effect of Convertible note security  - 9,493,151 

Effect of Rights issue - 109,423,884 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 30 September 239,114,160 2,743,020,471 

* A share consolidation of Axiom’s capital, on the basis of one share for every fifteen shares was completed on 14 April 

2015. 
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7 Cash and cash equivalents 

  2015 2014 

  $000 $000 

    

Cash at bank and on hand  1,198 2,170 

Short-term bank deposits  34 13 

Funds held in trusts  74 121 

  1,306 2,304 

The effective interest rate on short-term bank deposits was 

2.15% (2014: 3.54%). These deposits have an average maturity 

of 90 days. 

   

    

Reconciliation of cash    

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement 

of cash flows is reconciled to items in the statement of 

financial position as follows: 

   

    

Cash and cash equivalents  1,306 2,304 

    

8 Other receivables 

 
Prepayments  165 70 

Other receivables  964 1,021 

  1,129 1,091 

Terms and conditions 

Other receivables comprise sundry debtors. 

Sundry debtors are non-interest bearing and have repayment terms between 30 to 90 days. 
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9 Investments in subsidiaries  

 
Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:  

  

Ownership 

interest held by 

the Group 

Proportion 

of Non- 

controlling 

interests 

 Place of  2015 2014 2015 2014 

Name of subsidiaries incorporation % % % % 

Axiom Vietnam JSC*  Vietnam 90 90 10 10 

Axiom Nickel Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 - - 

Axiom Nickel (SI) Ltd Solomon Islands 100 100 - - 

Axiom KB Ltd Solomon Islands 80 80 20 20 

Azzu Mining Ltd British Virgin Islands  100 100 - - 

Guadalcanal Resources Limited* Solomon Islands 93 93 - - 

Laos Resources Ltd British Virgin Islands  100 100 - - 

Ozmin Resources Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 - - 

South Pacific Minerals Limited Solomon Islands 100 100 - - 

Vietnam Resources Corporation Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 - - 

Vietnam Resources Corporation (QB) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 - - 

VRC Quangtri Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 - - 

Millungera Energy Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 - - 

Vietnam Resources Corporation (VN Holdings) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 - - 

* The non-controlling interests of Axiom Vietnam JSC and Guadalcanal Resources Limited are not material to the Group. 

Summarised Financial Information of Material Non-controlling Interest - Axiom KB Ltd 

 
Summarised Financial Position: 

2015 

$000 

2014 

$000 

Total Current Assets 952 737 
Total Non-current Assets 7,072 2,523 
Total Assets 8,024 3,260 

   
Total Current Liabilities 1,777 551 
Total Non-current Liabilities 17,520 8,617 

Total Liabilities 19,297 9,168 

   
Net Assets (11,273) (5,908) 

Carrying amount of non-controlling interests (2,255) (1,182) 

   
Summarised Financial Performance:   

Revenue 7 84 

Loss after tax (2,645) (939) 
Other comprehensive income after tax - - 

Total Comprehensive loss (2,645) (939) 

Loss attributable to non-controlling interests (529) (188) 

Distributions paid to non-controlling interests - - 
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10 Property, plant and equipment 

 

Leasehold 

Land1 

Leasehold  

improvements 

Plant &  

Equipment Total 

 

$000 $000 $000 $000 

At 1 October 2013     

Cost 1,502 190 990 2,682 

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation (108) (148) (367) (623) 

 1,394 42 623 2,059 

Cost     

At 1 October 2013 1,659 179            793           2,631 

Additions - - 195 195 

Disposals - - (2) (2) 

Exchange realignment (157) 11 4 (142) 

At 30 September 2014  1,502 190 990 2,682 

  

   

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation     

At 1 October 2013 (85) (135) (212) (432) 

Disposals - - - - 

Depreciation and amortisation charged (23) (4) (179) (206) 

Exchange realignment - (9) 24 15 

At 30 September 2014  (108) (148) (367) (623) 

Net carrying amount at 30 September 2014 1,394 42 623 2,059 

     

Cost     

At 1 October 2014 1,502 190 990 2,682 

Additions - - 187 187 

Disposals - - - - 

Exchange realignment - 26 133 159 

At 30 September 2015  1,502 216 1,310 3,028 

     

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation     

At 1 October 2014 (108) (148) (367) (623) 

Disposals - - - - 

Depreciation and amortisation charged (38) (44) (244) (326) 

Exchange realignment 8 (24) (52) (68) 

At 30 September 2015  (138) (216) (663) (1,017) 

Net carrying amount at 30 September 2015 1,364 - 647 2,011 

At 30 September 2015     

Cost 1,502 216 1,310 3,028 

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation (138) (216) (663) (1,017) 

Net carrying amount at 30 September 2015 1,364 - 647 2,011 

1 Leasehold land includes a long term lease over land on Santa Isabel Island in the Solomon Islands (refer Note 14) 
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11 Mineral exploration expenditure 

Exploration, evaluation and development costs carried forward in respect of mining areas of 
interest: 

 

 2015 2014 

 $000 $000 

Carrying amount at 1 October 2,472 2,796 

Exploration costs 7,044 2,385 

Less: Exploration costs expensed (471) (1,425) 

Exchange alignment 130 276 

Impairment loss on mineral exploration expenditure (17) (1,560) 

Carrying amount at 30 September 9,158 2,472 
 

Determining the recoverability of mineral exploration expenditure capitalised in accordance with the 
Group’s accounting policy (see Note 2 (g)), requires estimates and assumptions as to future events 
and circumstances, in particular, whether successful development and commercial exploitation, or 
alternatively sale, of the respective exploration right will be achieved. During the period, an 
impairment charge was made to capitalised exploration expenditure in accordance with the Group’s 
accounting policy (see Note 2(g)) to its recoverable amount.  

During the year the company has spent less than the annual expenditure commitment under the 
amalgamated expenditure arrangement. However, the company expects to meet any shortfall in this 
arrangement in future periods. 

The company is in process of renewing its tenement licenses in the West Guadacanal area, and the 
Kolosori area is subject to litigation matters. 

The licence relating to the West Guadalcanal Project has not yet been renewed and is currently still 
proceeding through the renewal process. A significant assumption has been made by the directors 
that the application to renew will be successful.  As the directors expect the licenses will be 
renewed, it is appropriate to continue to carry the capitalised expenditure relating to West 
Guadalcanal Project. 

Recoverability of the carrying amount of exploration assets is dependent on the successful 
exploration and commercial exploitation of the tenements. 

12 Trade and other payables 

 2015 2014 

 $000 $000 

   

Trade payables 2,362 854 

Other payables and accruals 1,575 914 

 3,937 1,768 

All of the other payables are expected to be settled or recognised as an expense within one year or are 
repayable on demand. 
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13 Borrowings 

 2015 2014 

 $000 $000 

   

Convertible notes (includes embedded derivative component) 1,132 678 

Other borrowings - 8 

 1,132 686 
 

On 22 May 2015, the Company raised $1 million through the issue of six Convertible Notes, pursuant 
to a number of Convertible Note Agreements. 

The Convertible Notes were issued on the following terms: 

 Each Convertible Note has a term of 18 months and can be converted at any time by the 
Noteholder 

 A coupon rate of 8% per annum applies to the Convertible Notes, which is quarterly 

 A conversion price of $0.30 applies to each Convertible Note; and 

 For every $5.00 worth of Convertible Notes, the Noteholder will be entitled to 10 free attaching 
Options, with an exercise price of $0.30, expiring 12 months from the date of issue. 

One Note with face value of $100,000 was converted on 9 June 2015 at $0.30 cents with issue of 
333,333 shares. 

The convertible notes are considered to be a hybrid financial instrument with an amortised financial 
liability component and an embedded derivative liability component that are disclosed separately. 
The value of the embedded derivative liability at reporting date was $581,350 (initial recognition was 
$1,000,000 with the balance of $567,267 recognised as a financial liability). The amortised cost of 
the financial liability at reporting date was $550,547. 
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14 Capitalised lease liabilities 

On 22 February 2011 the Group through its subsidiary Axiom KB Limited entered into a long term 
lease agreement (50 years) over land on Santa Isabel Island in the Solomon Islands. As at 30 
September 2015, the Group had obligations under the finance lease as follows: 

 2015 2014 

 

Present value of 

the minimum 

lease payments                                                                                                                                                   

Total  

minimum  

lease  

payments 

Present value of 

the minimum 

lease payments 

Total minimum 

lease payments 

 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Within one year 516 596 377 436 

     

After one year but within five years 375 794 363 698 

After five years 1,957 7,993 1,595 7,194 

 2,332 8,787 1,958 7,892 

 2,848 9,383 2,335 8,328 

Less: total interest expenses - (6,535) - (5,993) 

 2,848 2,848 2,335 2,335 

 

15 Provisions 

 
Current 2015 2014 

 $000 $000 

   

Employee benefits payable  340 153 

 

The employee benefits relate to leave provisions and is presented as current as it is expected to be 
settled within 12 months. 

 

Non-Current 

 
Employee benefits payable  5 - 

 
The employee benefits relate to long service leave provisions not due for settlement within the next 
12 months.  
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16 Capital and reserves 

a) Authorised and issued share capital 

 2015 2014 

 $000 $000 

Issued and fully paid   

264,676,635* (2014: 3,289,552,750) ordinary shares  91,433 77,902 

 
     
 2015 2014 

 Number of  Number of  

 shares $000 shares $000 

Movements in issued shares:     

     

Balance at 1 October 3,289,552,750 77,902 2,335,067,445 62,633 

Issue of new shares     

Effect of share consolidation*  (3,070,251,090) - - - 

Share placement issue 21,299,632 7,176 332,383,597 5,390 

Shares issued as payment for services and 

interest 357,643 70 22,966,727 361 

Shares issued to employees - - 2,133,334 30 

Exercise of options 3,526,558 882 64,208,203 1,119 

Shares issued under agreement  - - 144,134,202 1,900 

Shares issued on conversion of convertible notes 20,191,142 5,650 224,000,014 3,136 

Shares used for commencement fee for funding 

facility - - 7,956,153 113 

Shares used for Convertible notes - - 15,000,000 210 

Rights issue - - 141,703,075 2,834 

 264,676,635 91,680 3,289,552,750 77,726 

Less: Transaction costs arising from share issues  (268)  - 

Options exercised during the year and paid but 

shares not allotted until after 30 September 

2014 - 21 - 176 

Balance at 30 September 264,676,635 91,433 3,289,552,750 77,902 

*A share consolidation of Axiom’s capital, on the basis of one share for every fifteen shares was completed on 14 April 
2015. 

b) Reserves 

 2015 2014 

 $000 $000 

   

Exchange reserve (830) (1,215) 

Share-based payment reserve 2,022 1,120 

 1,192 (95) 
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Nature and purpose of reserves 

(i) Exchange reserve 

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the 
financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the 
accounting policy set out in Note 2(s). 

(ii) Share-based payments reserve 

The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise: 

 The grant date fair value of performance rights issued to employees and directors. 

 The grant date fair value of shares issued to employees. 

 The grant date fair value of options issued to consultants. 

c) Distributability of reserves 

At 30 September 2015, the aggregate amount of reserves available for distribution to shareholders of 
the Company was nil (2014: nil).  
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16 Capital and reserves (continued) 

d) Options 

Details of the movements in options are as follows:  

 

* Post consolidation

 

Grant Date 
Expiry 
Date 

*No. of options 
outstanding as 
at 1/10/2014 

Exercise 
price 

Granted 
during the 

year 

Exercised 
during the 

period 

Expired 
during the 

year 

No. of options 
outstanding as at 

30/09/2015 

Bergen agreement 02/04/12 02/10/14 666,667 0.4500   (666,667) - 

Consultants 24/09/12 20/12/15 133,333 0.3000    133,333 

Option attached to private placement 25/10/12 30/10/14 555,556 0.4500   (555,556) - 

Consultants 30/10/12 30/10/14 433,333 0.4500   (433,333) - 

Option attached to private placement 04/03/13 15/02/16 1,666,667 0.3000    1,666,667 

Consultants 04/03/13 15/02/16 1,666,667 0.3000    1,666.666 

Consultants 10/02/14 10/02/17 883,333 0.2805    883,333 

Consultants 11/02/14 30/11/14 1,066,667 0.2550   (1,066,667) - 

Option attached to private placement 10/04/14 31/03/15 25,169,525 0.3000   (25,169,525) - 

Consultants 10/04/14 31/03/15 666,666 0.3000   (666,666) - 

Consultants 10/04/14 31/03/15 300,000 0.3000   (300,000) - 

Option to attached private placement 08/09/14 30/11/14 5,199,223 0.3000   (5,199,223) - 

Option to attached private Placement 08/09/14 30/11/14 737,700 0.3000   (737,700) - 

Options approved for issue at AGM  01/05/15 30/09/15 - 0.3000 25,169,498 (2,710,949) (22,458,549) - 

Options attached to convertible notes 02/06/15 31/05/16 - 0.3000 2,000,000   2,000,000 

Consultants 10/07/15 30/09/15 - 0.3000 233,333  (233,333) - 

Option attached to private placement 13/07/15 30/09/15 - 0.3000 66,666  (66,666) - 

Consultants 10/07/15 31/05/16 - 0.4000 3,000,000   3,000,000 

Consultants 10/07/15 31/05/16 - 0.5500 4,500,000   4,500,000 

Consultants 10/07/15 31/05/16 - 0.1750 666,666   666,666 

Consultants 10/07/15 31/05/16 - 0.3500 400,000   400,000 

Consultants 10/07/15 31/05/16 - 0.5000 100,000   100,000 

         

      39,145,336   36,136,163 (2,710,949) (57,553,885) 15,016,665 
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16 Capital and reserves (continued) 

d) Options 

A share consolidation of Axiom’s capital, on the basis of one share for every fifteen shares was 
completed on 14 April 2015. The number of options in the above table has been amended to reflect 
this consolidation. 

The fair value of options granted is measured using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, as 
appropriate, based on various assumptions on volatility, option life, dividend yield and annual risk-free 
interest rate, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions, which generally represent the 
best estimate of the fair values of the share options at date of grant. 

Key inputs used in the calculation of the value of options granted during the year ended 30 September 
2015 are: 

Grant date Expiry date 

Spot price Volatility Risk free rate 

$ % % 

10 Jul 15 30 Sep 15 0.35 192 2.15 
13 Jul 15 30 Sep 15 0.37 192 2.15 

10 Jul 15 31 May 16 0.35 192 2.15 

10 Jul 15 31 Mar 16 0.35 192 2.25 
10 Jul 15 31 May 16 0.35 192 2.25 

Expected volatility was determined based on historic volatility adjusted for any expected changes to 
future volatility based on publicly available information. All options granted during the year vested on 
grant date.  None of the options issued have vesting conditions attached. 

e) Performance rights 

Details of the movements in rights granted are as follows: 

 

No of rights 
outstanding as 

at 
1 October 2014 

Granted 
during 

the year 

Exercised 
during 

the year 

Lapsed during 
the year 

No. of rights 
outstanding as at 

30 September 
2015 

      
Stephen Ray Williams 833,332 - - (166,666) 666,666(1) 

Ryan Richard Mount 6,666,661 - - (6,666,661)
(2)

 - 

 7,499,993 - - (6,833,327) 666,666 
(1)

The VWAP hurdles relating to the 666,666 Rights were not met by 21 October 2015 and have lapsed. 
(2)

 Cancelled post year-end as detailed in Resolution 6 of the Annual General Meeting dated 31 March 2015. 

f) Capital management 

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other 
stakeholders, by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk and by securing 
access to finance at a reasonable cost. 

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a balance 
between higher shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the 
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital 
structure in light of changes in economic conditions. 

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.  
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17 Note to statement of cash flows 
Reconciliation of loss from operations to net cash outflow from operating activities: 
 

2015 
 

2014 
 $000 $000 

   

Loss for the period                                                 (12,460) (15,880) 

Non-cash items   

Depreciation and amortisation 326 206 
Expense recognised in respect of shares issued in exchange for consulting 
services 10 714 

Interest on lease liability 459 277 

Impairment loss on mineral exploration expenditure 17 1,560 

Share-based payments expense 902 703 

Fair value (gains)/losses 86 - 

Write-off of subsidiary 133 - 

Net foreign exchange loss - 16 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities   

- (Increase) in other receivables (354) (772) 

- Increase in other payables 2,208 719 

- Increase in provisions 179 60 

Net cash flows used from operations (8,494) (12,397) 

 

18 Commitments 

a) Expenditure commitments 

Estimated capital expenditure required to maintain tenements by the balance sheet date, but not 
provided for, are payable as follows: 
 2015 2014 
 $000 $000 

   

Within one year 750 704 

After one year but within five years 1,571 1,742 

 2,321 2,446 

These commitments may be achieved by seeking exemptions, relinquishment or by joint venture 
arrangements. 

During the year the company has spent less than the annual expenditure commitment under the 
amalgamated expenditure arrangement. However, the company expects to meet any shortfall in this 
arrangement in future periods. 

The company is in process of renewing its tenement licenses in the West Guadacanal area, and the 
Kolosori area is subject to litigation matters. 

Recoverability of the carrying amount of exploration assets is dependent on the successful exploration 
and commercial exploitation of the tenements. 
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18 Commitments (continued) 

b) Operating lease commitments 
 2015 2014 
 $000 $000 

   

Within one year 50 128 

After one year but within five years - 10 

 50 138 

19 Auditor’s remuneration 
 2015 2014 

 $000 $000 

   

Amount received or due and received by auditors for:   

Hall Chadwick   

Audit and review of financial reports under the Corporations Act 2001 57 80 

Audit services by firms other than Hall Chadwick 29 10 

 86 90 

20  Related parties 

a) Balances with related parties 

During the 2014 year an advance of $28,093 was outstanding from Ryan Richard Mount at market 
rates. This advance was fully paid during the year including interest at market rates.  

Transactions with related parties 

Stephen Ray Williams is a consultant to Kemp Strang Lawyers. Mr Williams is not a partner of Kemp 
Strang Lawyers. During the year $132,550 (2014 $97,829) (exclusive of GST) was paid to Kemp Strang 
Lawyers for legal services on normal commercial terms. 

Stephen Ray Williams provided consultancy Services to the Company through Burrawong Holdings Pty 
Ltd. During the year Nil (2014: $8,000) (exclusive of GST) in consultancy fees were charged by 
Burrawong Holdings Pty Ltd to the Company. 

During the year, advisory services were provided by JRG Consulting (JRG). Mr Jeremy Gray, who is a 
Non-executive Director, controls JRG. The Board considers that the JRG agreement is a commercial 
arrangement entered into on reasonable arm's length terms. There is no obligation for the Company to 
acquire services exclusively from JRG or for JRG to exclusively provide services to the Company. Total 
amount paid to JRG during the year including the provision of services provided by Mr Jeremy Gray 
was $28,650 (2014 Nil).  
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20 Related Parties (continued) 

b) KMP and executive director remuneration summary 

 
 2015 2014 

 $000 $000 

Short term employee benefits:   

Salaries 1,408 734 

Non-monetary benefits 176 1 

Total short-term benefits 1,584 735 

   

Post-employment benefits   

Superannuation 118 60 

   

Other benefits   

Share-based payments - performance rights * 368 281 

Total remuneration 2,070 1,076 
 

* Performance rights were granted in April 2013 following approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting held on 
22 April 2013. The performance rights are charged to expense over the life of the rights. The expense in relation to the 
performance rights is calculated as fair value using the Black-Scholes model. For further disclosure in respect of the 
share-based payment see part (c) Performance Rights Plan of the remuneration report in the Directors’ report. 

Performance rights issued will automatically vest into fully paid ordinary shares upon specific conditions being achieved. The 
performance condition is a market hurdle as disclosed in part (c) Performance Rights Plan of the remuneration report. The 
amounts that appear are amounts required under Australian Accounting Standards to be expensed by the Company in respect 
of the allocation of long term incentives. Whether or not these performance rights are received will depend on achieving 
appropriate vesting conditions as discussed above. No performance rights were exercised during the year. 

21 Financial risk management and fair values 

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rates and currency risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s 
business. 

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk management policies and practices used by 
the Group are described below and are limited by the Group’s financial management policies and 
practices described below. 

a) Credit risk 

Exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the potential non-performance by 
counterparties of contract obligations that could lead to a financial loss to the Group. 

Credit risk is managed through the maintenance of procedures (such procedures include the utilisation 
of systems for the approval, granting and renewal of credit limits, regular monitoring of exposures 
against such limits and monitoring of the financial stability of significant customers and counterparties), 
ensuring to the extent possible, that customers and counterparties to transactions are of sound credit 
worthiness. Such monitoring is used in assessing receivables for impairment. Credit terms are generally 
14 to 30 days from the invoice date. 

Risk is also minimised through investing surplus funds in financial institutions that maintain a high 
credit rating, or in entities that the Board has otherwise cleared as being financially sound. Where the 
Group is unable to ascertain a satisfactory credit risk profile in relation to a customer or counterparty, 
the risk may be further managed through title retention clauses over goods or obtaining security by 
way of personal or commercial guarantees over assets of sufficient value that can be claimed against in 
the event of any default. 
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21 Financial risk management and fair values (continued) 

a) Credit risk (continued) 

Credit risk exposures 

The maximum exposure to credit risk by class of recognised financial assets at the end of the reporting 
period, excluding the value of any collateral or other security held, is equivalent to the carrying value 
and classification of those financial assets (net of any provisions) as presented in the statement of 
financial position. Credit risk also arises through the provision of financial guarantees, as approved at 
Board level. 

Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are considered to be of high credit 
quality. 

The Group manages its credit risk associated with funds on deposit and cash at bank by only dealing 
with reputable financial institutions. At year end the Company has one material exposure of $1,094 
(2014: $2,145K) to the Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited relating to funds on deposit 
and cash at bank. 

b) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Group may encounter difficulty in settling its debts or 
otherwise meeting its obligations related to financial liabilities. 

The Group manages this risk through the following mechanisms: 

 Preparing forward-looking cash flow analysis in relation to its operational, investing and 
financing activities 

 Maintaining a reputable credit profile 

 Managing credit risk related to financial assets; and 

 Only investing surplus cash with major financial institutions. 

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for their own cash management, 
including the short term investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected cash 
demands, subject to approval by the parent Company’s Board when the borrowings exceed certain 
predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements 
and its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and 
readily realisable marketable securities and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial 
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. 
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21 Financial risk management and fair values (continued) 

c) Interest rate risk 

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective interest rates of financial assets and 
financial liabilities, both recognised and unrecognised at the balance sheet date, are as follows: 
 

Financial instruments Interest bearing 
Non-interest 

bearing 

Total carrying 
amount as per the 

balance sheet 

Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate 
 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 % % 

(i) Financial assets         

Cash
1
 1,306 2,304 - - 1,306 2,304 2.5 3.5 

Other receivables - - 1,129 1,091 1,129 1,091  - 

Total financial assets 1,306 2,304 1,129 1,091 2,435 3,395   

(ii)  Financial liabilities         

Other payables - - 3,937 1,768 3,937 1,768  - 
Borrowings – Convertible 
notes2 1,132 678 - - 1,132 678 8.0 14.5 

Borrowings – Other1 - 8 - - - 8  14.4 

Capitalised lease liabilities2 2,848 2,335 - - 2,848 2,335 10.0 10.0 

Provisions - - 345 153 345 153  - 

Total financial liabilities 3,980 3,021 4,282 1,921 8,262 4,942   

1 At floating interest rates 
2 At fixed interest rates         

The Group is not exposed to significant risk from interest rate sensitivity. 
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21 Financial risk management and fair values (continued) 

d) Currency risk 

Functional currency of entity AUD SBD VND Total AUD 

2015     

Australian Dollar (1,687)   (1,687) 

Solomon Islander Dollar  (4,142)  (4,142) 

Vietnamese Dong   1 1 

Statement of financial position exposure (1,687) (4,142) 1 (5,828) 

2014     

Australian Dollar 1,031 - - 1,031 

Solomon Islander Dollar - (2,595) - (2,595) 

Vietnamese Dong - - 17 17 

Statement of financial position exposure 1,031 (2,595) 17 (1,547) 

If the Solomon Islander Dollar and the Vietnamese Dong were to firm against the Australian dollar by 5% 
the Group loss would increase by $169K. If Solomon Islander Dollar and the Vietnamese Dong were to 
weaken against the Australian dollar by 5% the Group loss would reduce by $153K.  

e) Fair values 

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially different from their fair values as at 30 
September 2015 and 2014. 

22 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities 

Contingent assets 

On 24 September 2014 the High Court of Solomon Islands dismissed all of SMM Solomon Limited’s claims 
and enabled Axiom to recommence exploration activities on the Isabel nickel deposit. On 29 October 
2014, Axiom filed submissions and supporting evidence to recover costs from Sumitomo related to the 
Solomon Islands Court Case 258/2011. 

On 16 January 2015, Sumitomo provided two irrevocable and unconditional bank guarantees with a 
commercial bank in Solomon Islands for the full sums of: 

 US$3.9 million for Axiom’s costs relating to the original High Court case 

 US$177,200 as security for Axiom’s costs of the appeal. 

Axiom will be entitled to recover the costs upon obtaining a favourable judgment in the appeal in the 
Court of Appeal of Solomon Islands, which was heard by a panel of three Commonwealth judges from 26 
May 2015 to 5 June 2015. The Court of Appeal has reserved judgement and no ruling has been handed 
down at the date of this report. 

Contingent liabilities 

As at the date of this report there are no contingent liabilities  
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23  Subsequent events  

Subsequent to the year end, on 4 November 2015 the Company announced that it had entered into a 
convertible note facility agreement for up to $15 million to project fund the development of the Isabel 
Nickel Project through a strategic partnership with experienced resource venture capitalist and project 
incubator InCor Holdings Plc (‘InCoR’). 

As part of the agreement, Axiom issued one secured convertible note with a face value of $5,000,000, 
convertible to a maximum issue of 13,513,514 fully paid ordinary shares based on a conversion price of 
$0.37 per share. 

The note is for the period of 24 months with interest rate of 6% per annum payable in advance for the 
first 12 months and thereafter quarterly in advance. Interest obligations have been satisfied by the 
issuing shares at a fixed price of $0.37. The facility is secured through the first ranking charge over 
Axiom’s assets in Australia and Hong Kong. 

At the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 15 October 2015, the shareholders approved the issue of 
the 150,000 Performance Rights to the newly-appointed director, Mr Jeremy Gray. 

Apart from the matters mentioned above, no other matters or circumstances have arisen since 30 
September 2015 that significantly affected or could significantly affect the operations of the Consolidated 
Group in future years. 

24 Significant accounting estimates and judgements 

Estimates and judgements used in preparing the consolidated financial statements are continually 
evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future 
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The Group makes estimates and 
assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates may not equal the related actual 
results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant effect on the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities are discussed below. 

a) Impairment of non-financial assets 

The Group tests at least annually whether other assets that have indefinite useful lives have suffered any 
impairment. 

Other assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset of a 
cash-generating unit has been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require 
the use of estimates. 

The value-in-use calculations primarily use cash flow projections based on five-year financial budgets 
approved by management and estimated terminal values at the end of the five-year period. There are a 
number of assumptions and estimates involved for the presentation of cash flow projections for the 
period covered by the approved budget and the estimated terminal value. Key assumptions include the 
expected growth in revenue and operating margin, effective tax rates, growth rates and selection of 
discount rates, to reflect the risks involved and the earnings multiple that can be realised for the 
estimated terminal value. 

Management prepared the financial budgets reflecting actual and prior year performance and market 
development expectations. Judgement is required to determine key assumptions adopted in the cash 
flow projections and changes to key assumptions can significantly affect these cash flow projections and 
therefore the results of the impairment reviews. 
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24     Significant accounting estimates and judgements (continued) 

b) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment 

The Directors determine the estimated useful lives and residual values for its property, plant and 
equipment. The Directors revise the depreciation charge when useful lives are different from previous 
estimates. Obsolete or non-strategic assets, which have been abandoned or sold, shall be written-off 
or written-down.  

c) Income tax 

The Group is subject to income tax in a number of jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in 
determining the provision for income tax for each entity in the Group. There are certain transactions and 
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. 
The Group recognises liabilities for potential tax exposures based on estimates of whether additional 
taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were 
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the year in 
which such determination is made. 

25 Parent entity financial information 

The accounting policies of the parent entity that have been applied in determining the financial 
information shown below are the same as those applied in the consolidated financial statements. Refer 
to Note 2 for a summary of the significant accounting policies relating to the Group. 

 2015 2014 

 $000 $000 

Financial position   

Current assets 1,359  2,586 

Total assets 7,556 2,736 

Current liabilities 2,347 1,578 

Total liabilities 2,347 1,578 

   

Shareholders’ equity   

Issued capital 91,433 77,902 

Reserves   

– Exchange reserve (933) (933) 

– Share-based payment reserve 2,022 1,120 

Accumulated losses (87,313) (76,931) 

 5,201 1,158 

Financial performance   

Loss for the year (10,382) (14,845) 

Total comprehensive loss for the year (10,382) (14,845) 

Guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries 

The Company did not issue any shares as collateral security on issue of Convertible Notes during the 
year (2014: 15,000,000). 

Commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment by the parent entity  

Nil (2014: nil) 
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26 Fair Value 

The Group measures and recognises the following assets and liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis after 

initial recognition: 

– Embedded derivative liability (at fair value); 

The Group does not subsequently measure any liabilities at fair value on a non-recurring basis. 

Fair Value Hierarchy 

AASB 13: Fair Value Measurement requires the disclosure of fair value information by level of the fair value hierarchy, 

which categorises fair value measurements into one of three possible levels based on the lowest level that an input that is 

significant to the measurement can be categorised into as follows: 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Measurements based on quoted prices 

(unadjusted) in active markets for 

identical assets or liabilities that the 

entity can access at the measurement 

date. 

Measurements based on inputs other 

than quoted prices included in Level 1 

that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly or indirectly. 

Measurements based on unobservable 

inputs for the asset or liability. 

The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined using one or more valuation 

techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of observable market data. If all 

significant inputs required to measure fair value are observable, the asset or liability is included in Level 2. If one or more 

significant inputs are not based on observable market data, the asset or liability is included in Level 3. 

The Company’s embedded derivative liabilities are valued using Level 2, as follows: 

 
 
 2015 2014 

                                            Note                                                                              $000 $000 

 

Financial liabilities   
     

- Embedded derivative liability (fair value)                  13                               

 

 

 

581 

 

 

 

- 
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The Directors of the Company declare that: 
 
The financial statements and notes of the Company and of the consolidated entity, As set out on pages 
17 to 57, have been prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 
 

i. giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 September 

2015 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and 

ii. comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which, as stated in accounting policy Note 2 to 

the financial statements, constitutes compliance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS); and 

iii. there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and 

when they become due and payable. 

 
This declaration is made in accordance with a Resolution of the Board of Directors. 
 
 
 
 
 
Stephen Ray Williams 
Chairman 
 
Dated at Brisbane 21 December 2015 



  

 

 AXIOM MINING LIMITED AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

ABN 119 698 770 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF  

AXIOM MINING LIMITED 

 

 

Report on the Financial Report 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of  Axiom Mining Limited which 

comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 September 2015, 

the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the 

consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a 

summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information and the 

directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the company and the entities 

it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year. 

 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report 

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report 
that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note 1, the directors also state, in 
accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101: Presentation of Financial Statements, 
that the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS). 

 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those 
standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit 
engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether 
the financial report is free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts 

and disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 

judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 

considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 

financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 

the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 

accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the 

directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

 

Independence 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirement of the 

Corporation Act 2001.  

 

 



 

 

  
AXIOM MINING LIMITEDAND CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

ABN 119 698 770 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF  

AXIOM MINING LIMITED AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

 

Auditor’s Opinion 

In our opinion: 

a. the financial report of Axiom Mining Limited is in accordance with the Corporations 

Act 2001 including: 

i.  giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 

September 2015 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and 

ii. complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations 

Regulations 2001; and 

b. the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards 

as disclosed in Note 1. 

 

Emphasis of matter 

Without modifying our opinion: 

(i) We draw attention to Note 2 (b) in the financial report which indicates that the 

consolidated entity incurred a net loss of $12,460,000 and incurred net cash outflows 

from operations of $8,494,000 and had no ongoing source of operating income for the 

year ended 30 September 2015. 

 

These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 1, indicate the 

existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the 

consolidated entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and therefore, the 

consolidated entity may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in 

the normal course of business and at the amounts stated in the financial report. 

 

(ii) We draw attention to Note 11 that discloses the renewal progress of the West 

Guadacanal tenement license which has not been renewed at the date of this financial 

report. This condition indicates the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast 

a significant doubt about the recoverability of capitalised expenditures in relation to the 

West Guadacanal tenement. Should the license not be successfully renewed, the 

carrying value of capitalised exploration expenditures relating to the West Guadacanal 

tenement, amounting to $2,967,491 may be impaired as at 30 September 2015. 

 

 

 



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

Report on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the remuneration report included in pages 5 to 9 of the directors’ 

report for the year ended 30 September 2015. The directors of the company are 

responsible for the preparation and presentation of the remuneration report in 

accordance with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to 

express an opinion on the remuneration report, based on our audit conducted in 

accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

 

 

Auditor’s Opinion 

In our opinion the remuneration report of Axiom Mining Limited for the year ended 30 

September 2015 complies with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 
 
 

 
Hall Chadwick  
Level 40, 2 Park Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
 
 

 
Drew Townsend 
PARTNER 
21 December 2015  
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